### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ROBERT M. DYKEMA, individually; and RONALD TURNER, individually,	)	Electronically Filed CASE NO Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court
Appellants,	) )	Eighth Judicial District Case No. A-15-714632-D
V.	)	
DEL WEBB COMMUNITIES, INC., an Arizona	)	
corporation,	)	
Respondent.	)	
	_)	

### APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Duane E. Shinnick, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 7176 Courtney K. Lee, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 8154 SHINNICK & RYAN NV P.C. 4001 Meadows Lane Las Vegas, Nevada 89107 Tel: 702-631-8014

Fax: 702-631-8024

Attorneys for Appellants

{00280276.DOC}

### **NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE**

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the district court erred in determining that Dykema's and Turner's claims were barred by application of the statute of repose pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. § 11.203 (1999) (or "NRS").

Specifically:

a. whether the district court erred in defining "issuance" of the notice of completion date as the date indicated by Del Webb when the home was completed instead of the recorded date of the notice of completion.

b. whether the district court therefore erred in determining the substantial completion date from which the statute of repose would begin to run pursuant to NRS 11.2055 (1999) as the date written by Del Webb on the notice of completion, instead of the recorded date of the notice of completion.

2. Whether it is inequitable to bar Dykema's and Turner's claims in light of the original NRS 40.645 notices, and Dykema's repairs in the 10<sup>th</sup> year pursuant to NRS 11.203(2) (1999).

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellants' Opening Brief is being filed pursuant to Nev. R. App. P. 28. The Joint Appendix ("JA") filed concurrently on April 4, 2016 will be referenced. The Nevada state district court case concerns a construction defect action involving fifty-nine (59) homes of claimants ("Subject Homes") located in the Anthem Highlands subdivision of North Las Vegas, Nevada. Del Webb was the developer and/or general contractor of the Anthem Highlands subdivision. Residential

construction defect claims are governed under NRS Chapter 40, or Nev. Rev. STAT. §§ 40.600-40.695 (2003) ("NRS 40.600-40.695"). Homeowners served their Chapter 40 notices pursuant to NRS 40.645 beginning in January 2014 (although the specific Chapter 40 notices attached as exhibits in the district court are dated only as early as July 8, 2014). (Vol. 1, JA00054-00071, JA00109)

On or about February 27, 2015, homeowners filed the original construction defect lawsuit against Del Webb. (Vol. 1, JA00001-00013) On March 6, 2015, homeowners, including Appellants, filed a First Amended Construction Defect Complaint. (Vol. 1, JA00014-00029) On May 19, 2015, Del Webb filed a Motion to Dismiss ("MTD") six (6) sets of homeowner claimants, including the two (2) Appellants. (Vol. 1, JA00033-00105) Dykema is the owner of 2818 Craigton Drive, and Turner is the owner of 2844 Blythswood Square ("subject homes"), facts not disputed by Del Webb. (Vol. 1, JA00038, JA00115)

On June 5, 2015, homeowners, including Appellants, filed a Limited Opposition to Del Webb's MTD. (Vol. 1, JA00106-00185)

Del Webb filed a Reply in support of their MTD on June 17, 2015. (Vol. 1, JA00186-00197)

On June 23, 2015, the Honorable Susan H. Johnson, District Court Judge

for the Eighth Judicial District ("Judge Johnson"), heard oral arguments on Del Webb's MTD. (Vol. 1, JA00198-00218). Judge Johnson issued her Order regarding Del Webb's MTD ("Order") on November 16, 2015. (Vol. 2, JA00219-00231) Such Order was entered on November 25, 2015. (Vol. 2, JA00232-00247) In the Order, Judge Johnson found that the claims of Appellants Dykema and Turner were barred by the statute of repose/limitations. (Vol. 2, JA00243-00244, JA00246)

On December 2, 2015, Appellants Dykema and Turner filed their Notice of Appeal of the Order entered November 25, 2015. (Vol. 2, JA00248-00309)

On December 23, 2015, the district court entered final judgment as to Dykema and Turner. (Vol. 2, JA00328-00330)

On December 28, 2015, Appellants filed an amended Notice of Appeal because of the final judgment entered on December 23, 2015. (Vol. 2, JA00331-00334)

It is requested that this Court overturn the ruling of the Honorable Judge Susan H. Johnson of the Eighth Judicial District Court, who found that the construction defect claims of Dykema and Turner were barred by the statute of repose, and reinstate the claims of Appellants Dykema and Turner.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

# I. DYKEMA'S AND TURNER'S CLAIMS SHOULD NOT BE BARRED CONSIDERING THE RECORDED NOTICES OF COMPLETION DATES

The claims of Dykema and Turner are not barred by the statute of repose.

The applicable statute of repose is ten (10) years. *See* NRS 11.203(1) (1999).

Dykema and Turner served their Chapter 40 notices, which tolled the statute of repose. Dykema and Turner's claims are therefore timely considering the recorded dates of the Notices of Completion, or substantial completion dates.

# II. IT IS INEQUITABLE TO BAR THE CLAIMS OF DYKEMA AND TURNER

Dykema and Turner gave Del Webb notice of their claims through service of their Chapter 40 notices. Del Webb should not be able to escape liability for construction defects, even if Del Webb's argument is accepted that completion dates noted on the notices of completion by Del Webb. Del Webb had notice of deficiencies as early as January 31, 2014 (or July 2014 for Chapter 40 notices in the district court record), when the first Chapter 40 notices were served on Del Webb on behalf of other homeowners within the Anthem Highlands community. Further, Dykema had repair invoices submitted for the 10<sup>th</sup> year, which should extend the time for Dykema to submit his claims.

### **ARGUMENTS**

### I. DYKEMA AND TURNER'S CLAIMS WERE NOT BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF REPOSE/LIMITATION

Dykema is the owner of 2818 Craigton Drive, and Turner is the owner of 2844 Blythswood Square, or the subject homes. The ten (10) year statute of repose/limitation applies to Dykema's and Turner's construction defect claims for their subject homes on appeal. See NRS 11.203 (1999). Dykema's and Turner's claims were timely submitted considering the tolling of the statute of repose/limitation by service of their Chapter 40 notices, and the recorded notices of completion as the substantial completion dates.

### Dykema and Turner's Claims were Tolled by Service of their A. Chapter 40 Notices

Pursuant to NRS 40.668(2) (2003), "All statutes of limitation or repose applicable to a claim governed by this section are tolled from the time the claimant notifies a contractor hired by the subdivider or master developer of the claim . . . " Further, NRS 40.695 (2003) provides for tolling of any applicable statute of limitations or repose "from the time notice of the claim is given, until 30 days after mediation is concluded or waived in writing pursuant to NRS 40.680." NRS 40.695(1) (2003).

Dykema sent his Chapter 40 notice to Del Webb on December 2, 2014. (Vol. 1, JA00065-00067) Turner sent his Chapter 40 notice to Del Webb on December 22, 2014. (Vol. 1, JA00060-00063)

# B. The Statute of Repose did not Begin to Run until after the Date of Substantial Completion

The start date for the running of the statute of repose is the date of substantial completion of the improvement or home. NRS 11.2055 (1999) provides that "the date of substantial completion of an improvement to real property shall be deemed to be the date on which: (a) *The final building inspection* of the improvement is conducted; (b) A *notice of completion* is issued for the improvement; *or* (c) A *certificate of occupancy* is issued for the improvement, *whichever occurs later*." (Emphasis added).

1. The Legislative Intent was for the Latest Date to be
Utilized for Substantial Completion to begin the Statute
of Repose/Limitation

The important question in all cases of statutory construction is legislative intent and the reasons that prompted the legislature to enact the law. *See In re Whitaker Const. Co., Inc.*, 411 F.3d 197, 204-205 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2005) *citing In re* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 964 (4th ed. 1968) defines "issue" as follows: "To send forth; to emit; to promulgate. . . To put into circulation . . . To send out . . ."

Succession of Boyter, 756 So.2d 1122, 1128 (La. 2000). It is clear that the Nevada legislative intent was to utilize the latest possible date to start the running of the statute of repose for a construction defect claim from the later of the three possible substantial completion dates – final building inspection, notice of completion, or certificate of occupancy. See S.B. 32, Chapter 353, at 1444 (1999) (enacted); NRS 11.2055 (1999). The rationale appeared to offer the homeowner as much time as possible to bring their claims.

In the present matter, the substantial completion dates for Dykema's and Turner's subject homes were the recorded notices of completion, on December 8, 2004 (Vol. 1, JA000141-144) and December 23, 2004 (Vol. 1, JA000136-000139), respectively.

> 2. Nevada's Statute Defines Completion and Mandates the Recording of a Notice of Completion, which Supports the Recordation Date as the Substantial Completion Date

NRS 108.22116 (2003) defines "Completion of the work of improvement" as "1. The occupation or use by the owner, an agent of the owner or a representative of the owner of the work of improvement, accompanied by the cessation of all work on the work of improvement; 2. The acceptance by the owner, an agent of the owner or a representative of the owner of the work of

improvement, accompanied by the cessation of all work on the work of improvement; or 3. The cessation of all work on a work of improvement for 30 consecutive days, provided a notice of completion is timely recorded and served and the work is not resumed under the same contract." (Emphasis added). The statute appears clear that a notice of completion does not have to be issued in order for an improvement to be considered completed, as the occupation or use by the owner or acceptance by the owner of the work of improvement may also be evidence of completion. However, if a notice of completion is provided, then it must be recorded. See NRS 108.228 (2003). Recording statutes provide "constructive notice" of the existence of an outstanding interest in land. Allison Steel Mfg. Co. v. Bentonite, Inc., 86 Nev. 494, 497, 471 P.2d 666, 668 (1970); Allen v. Webb, 87 Nev. 261, 270, 485 P.2d 677, 682 (1971). Accordingly, the recorded notice of completion places all on constructive notice of the date of substantial completion of the particular improvement or home.

Furthermore, the notices of completion indicate that they are noticed pursuant to NRS 108.288 (2003) [sic NRS 108.228], which requires such notices of completion to be recorded. (Vol. 1, JA000141-000144, JA000136-000139)

NRS 108.228 provides in relevant part:

- 2. The notice of completion must be recorded in the office of the county recorder of the county where the property is located and must set forth:
- (a) The date of completion of the work of improvement.
- 4. Upon recording the notice pursuant to this section, the owner shall, within 10 days after the notice is recorded, deliver a copy of the notice by certified mail, to:
- (a) Each prime contractor with whom the owner contracted for all or part of the work of improvement.
- (b) Each potential lien claimant who, before the notice was recorded pursuant to this section, either submitted a request to the owner to receive the notice or delivered a preliminary notice of right to lien pursuant to NRS 108.245.
- 5. The failure of the owner to deliver a copy of the notice of completion in the time and manner provided in this section *renders the notice of completion ineffective* with respect to each prime contractor and lien claimant to whom a copy was required to be delivered pursuant to subsection 4. (Emphasis added).

Although NRS 108.228 (2003) was established for construction lien rights, and required a notice of completion to be recorded and delivered in order to be effective, the legislative intent was to utilize the recorded date of the notice of completion to establish the substantial completion date, or begin the running of the statute of repose/limitations. *See* S.B. 32, Chapter 353, at 1444 (1999)

(enacted). Statutes should be construed to give effect to the legislature's intent. *Cleghorn v. Hess*, 109 Nev. 544, 548, 853 P.2d 1260, 1262 (1993). If a notice of completion is not valid unless recorded, then the recorded date of the notice of completion is necessarily the date from which the statutes of repose/limitations begin to run. *See* NRS 108.228(2) (2003).

Correspondingly, if the recorded dates of the notice of completions for Dykema and Turner are utilized, December 8, 2004 and December 23, 2004, respectively, then Dykema's and Turner's claims were timely and not barred by the statute of repose. (Vol. 1, JA000141-000144, JA000136-000139) Dykema and Turner served their Chapter 40 notices, which tolled the statute of repose, on December 2, 2014 and December 22, 2014, respectively, which were within the ten (10) year statute of repose. (Vol. 1, JA00065-00067, JA00060-00063)

3. <u>Sister States' Definition of "substantial completion"</u>
<u>Didactic</u>

Other states have similarly defined "substantial completion". California defines "substantial completion" as "(1) The date of final inspection by the applicable public agency. (2) The **date of recordation of a valid notice of completion**. (3) The date of use or occupation of the improvement. (4) One year after termination or cessation of work on the improvement." (Emphasis added).

CAL. CIV. PROC. CODE § 337.15(g). The Arizona statute defines "substantial completion" as the date the owner or occupant first uses the improvement, the improvement is first available for use after completion, or upon final inspection if required. ARIZ. REV. STAT. ANN. § 12-552(E) (2003).

4. <u>Case Law Supports the Recorded Date of a Notice of Completion as the Substantial Completion Date</u>

Many cases reference the recorded date of a notice of completion, not the date the improvement is stated to have been completed by the developer on the notice itself, as the established substantial completion date. See Gayle Mfg. Co., Inc. v. Federal Sav. and Loan Ins. Corp., 910 F.2d 574, 576 (9th Cir. 1990); Glen Falls Ins. Co. v. Murray Plumbing & Heating Corp., 330 F.2d 800, 802 (9th Cir. 1964); Erickson Const. Co. v. Nevada Nat. Bank, 89 Nev. 350, 351, 513 P.2d 1236, 1237 (1973); Fox v. First Western Sav. & Loan Ass'n, 86 Nev. 469, 471-72, 470 P.2d 424, 426 (1970); Irving v. Lennar Corp., 2:12-CV-0290 KJM EFB, at \*12 n. 2 (E.D. Cal. Jan. 6, 2014); Nordby Constr., Inc. v. Am. Safety Indem. Co., 14-CV-04074-LHK, at \*2 (N.D. Cal. March 19, 2015). This Court referenced the recorded date of an American West Homes, Inc.'s notice of completion, February 14, 1997, not the date indicated on the notice when the home was completed by American West Homes, Inc. of February 13, 1997 (which was previously attached as an exhibit), as the "substantial completion" date of a home in Evelyn Feliciano, et al. v. American West Homes, Inc., Case No. 56012, at \*2 n. 2 (Nev. July 27, 2012).

In the present matter, the notice of completion for Dykema's subject home was recorded on December 8, 2004. (Vol. 1, JA000141-000144) However, the date noted on the face of the notice of completion by Del Webb as the date Dykema's home was completed was November 30, 2004. This date was argued by Del Webb's counsel at the district court as the substantial completion date, and accepted by the district court judge. (Vol. 1, JA00191; Vol. 2, JA00244) The district court erred in utilizing the date indicated by Del Webb as the completed date of Dykema's subject home of November 30, 2004, instead of the recorded date of the notice of completion, December 8, 2004, as the date of substantial completion of Dykema's home. (Vol. 2, JA00244) The district court, respectfully, but erroneously, stated that the "recording of the Notice of Completion, which, in Plaintiff DYKEMA'S case, was December 8, 2004, is not a defining event. . .[and] declines to consider the recording date as another date of substantial completion, or when the Statute of Repose period begins." (Vol. 2, JA00244)

The notice of completion for Turner's property was recorded on December 23, 2004. (Vol. 1, JA000136-000139) However, the date noted by Del Webb as the date Turner's home was completed was December 14, 2004, and the date argued by Del Webb's counsel at the district court as the substantial completion date. (Vol. 1, JA00192-00193) The district court erred in holding that the date noted as the completed date by Del Webb of Turner's subject home, December 14, 2004, instead of the recorded date of the notice of completion, December 23, 2004, as the substantial completion date. (Vol. 2, JA00243-00244) The district court stated that it declines "to interpret or expand the statute to include another and different definition for 'substantially completed.'" (Vol. 2, JA00243-00244)

### II. IT IS UNFAIR TO BAR THE CLAIMS OF DYKEMA AND TURNER

The statute of repose is in contrast to a statute of limitation, which forecloses suit after a fixed period of time following the occurrence or discovery of an injury; whereas a statute of repose "bar[s] causes of action after a certain period of time, regardless of whether damage or an injury has been discovered." Allstate Ins. Co. v. Furgerson, 104 Nev. 772, 775 n. 2, 766 P.2d 904, 906 n. 2 (1988). However, statutes of limitations (and presumably statutes of repose) have been established to promote justice by "preventing surprises through the revival

of claims that have been allowed to slumber until evidence has been lost, memories have faded, and witnesses have disappeared. The theory is that even if one has a just claim it is unjust not to put the adversary on notice to defend within the period of limitation . . ." Order of Railroad Telegraphers v. Railway Express Agency, Inc., 321 U.S. 342, 348-49, 64 S.Ct. 582, 586, 88 L.Ed. 788 (1944).

In the present matter, Del Webb was given timely notice of constructional defects in the original Chapter 40 notices and were placed on notice as early as January 31, 2014 (or July 2014 as reflected in exhibits in the district court record), to preserve any related evidence – contracts for scope of work performed, photographs, repair records, etc. within the same community of homes in Anthem Highlands. (Vol. 1, JA00054-00071) The claims of Dykema and Turner concern the same evidence, memories, and witnesses as the subject matter of the original Chapter 40 notices. (Vol. 1, JA00065-00067, JA00060-00063) Del Webb was not prejudiced by the tolling of any applicable statute of repose/limitation by the subsequent service of Dykema's and Turner's Chapter 40 notices as Del Webb was already on notice of similar claims within the same community of homes.

Furthermore, Dykema presented repair invoices that may evidence discovery of defects in the 10<sup>th</sup> year, which would arguably extend the statute of limitations for another 2 years or until December 9, 2016, or December 1, 2016 (if the date given for notice of completion by Del Webb is accepted). (Vol. 1, JA00127-00129) *See Copper Sands Homeowners Ass'n, Inc. v. Flamingo 94 Ltd.*, Case Nos. 59934, 60483, 61039, 61286 (Nev. Mar. 4, 2015); NRS 11.203. Therefore, given the date of Dykema's Chapter 40 notice of December 2, 2014, which tolled the statute of limitation, Dykema's claims should be deemed timely.

If the district court order/final judgment is not overruled by this Court, then the meritorious claims of Dykema and Turner would be unfairly barred.

///

///

///

### **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, this Court is requested to overrule the Order of Dismissals/Final Judgments of Robert M. Dykema and Ronald Turner, and direct the honorable district court judge to reinstate their claims.