# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ROBERT M. DYKEMA, individually; and RONALD TURNER, individually,

Electronically Filed
CASE NO.: 69335 Jun 06 2016 10:50 a.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellants,

DISTRICT COURT CASE NO.:

VS.

A-15-714632-D

DEL WEBB COMMUNITIES, INC., an Arizona Corporation,

Respondent.

### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

ROBERT C. CARLSON

Nevada Bar No. 8015

JASON W. WILLIAMS

Nevada Bar No. 8310

RICHARD D. YOUNG

Nevada Bar No. 11331

KOELLER, NEBEKER, CARLSON & HALUCK, LLP

300 S. Fourth Street, Suite 500

Las Vegas, NV 89101

Phone: (702) 853-5500

Fax: (702) 853-5599

Counsel for Respondent Del Webb Communities, Inc.

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Turner and Dykema did not bring their claims against Del Webb within the time limit established by the statutes of repose specifically applicable to claims for construction defects. Appellants' claims are unquestionably late under either the six-year (NRS 11.205) or eight-year (NRS 11.204) statute of repose. No argument was presented that raised a genuine issue of material fact that the longest, ten-year statute of repose (NRS 11.203) applies to their claims. No allegations were made and no evidence was produced that Del Webb knew or should have known about any of the defects alleged to exist at Turner and Dykema's homes. Even if the ten-year statute of repose applies to their claims, which it does not, the district court order should be affirmed because Turner and Dykema have not raised a genuine issue of material fact that their claims were brought within the prescribed ten-year period.

Calculation of the statutes of repose found in NRS 11.203, 204 and 205 is triggered by the substantial completion date of the residence. NRS 11.2055. Here, we have notices of completion and certificates of occupancy for both the Turner and Dykema residences. JA v.1 00048, JA v.1 00137 (Turner); JA v.1 00050, JA v.1 00142 (Dykema). Both documents conclusively establish that neither Turner

nor Dykema served Del Webb with their Chapter 40 Notices before the expiration of the statutes of repose. Del Webb is aware of Appellants' argument that the statutory period was not triggered until the notices of completion were recorded, but such argument is substantially without merit in light of the plain, unambiguous language of NRS 11.2055 and the corresponding legislative intent.

The district court was correct in its application of the statutes of repose to the facts of the case. Turner and Dykema did not bring their construction defect claims against Del Webb within the applicable statutes of repose. Del Webb respectfully requests that this Court affirm the district court's order.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Del Webb's Motion to Dismiss was treated and disposed of as a motion for summary judgment by the district court. JA v.2 00223-224 at ¶ 1; NRCP 12(b). The district court's order dismissing Appellants' claims should therefore be reviewed as an entry of summary judgment on appeal. *MacDonald v. Kassel*, 97 Nev. 305, 307, 629 P.2d 1200, 1200 (1981). Entries of summary judgment are reviewed by this Court *de novo. Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005) ("*Wood*").

Summary judgment "shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the

affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." NRCP 56(c); see also Wood, 121 Nev. at 731, 121 P.3d at 1031. A genuine issue of material fact exists where the evidence, viewed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party, is such that a rational trier of fact could return a verdict for that party. See Wood, 121 Nev. at 731, 121 P.3d at 1031.

In this case, a rational trier of fact could not return a verdict for Turner and Dykema because their construction defect claims were not brought within the time frame set forth by the statutes of repose. Since Turner and Dykema brought their claims too late, the district court correctly dismissed their claims.

# II. TURNER AND DYKEMA'S CLAIMS WERE NOT BROUGHT WITHIN THE TIME FRAME SET FORTH BY THE STATUTES OF REPOSE.

In order for Turner and Dykema to prevail on their construction defect claims, they must prove the essential elements of their causes of action and also "that [their] cause[s] of action w[ere] brought within the time frame set forth by the statutes of repose." *G & H Associates v. Ernest W. Hahn, Inc.*, 113 Nev. 265, 271, 934 P.2d 229, 233 (1997). "Nevada's statutes of repose, NRS 11.203–11.205, bar actions for deficient construction after a certain number of years from the date construction was substantially completed." *Alsenz v. Twin Lakes Vill., Inc.*, 108

Nev. 1117, 1120, 843 P.2d 834, 836 (1992). As previously explained by this Court:

NRS 11.203(1) provides that an action based on a known deficiency may not be brought "more than 10 years after the substantial completion of such an improvement...." NRS 11.204(1) provides that an action based on a latent deficiency may not be commenced "more than 8 years after the substantial completion of such an improvement...." NRS 11.205(1) provides that an action based on a patent deficiency may not be [sic] commenced "more than 6 years after the substantial completion of such an improvement...

Id. A latent deficiency is defined as "a deficiency which is not apparent by reasonable inspection," NRS 11.204(4), and a patent deficiency is "a deficiency which is apparent by reasonable inspection." NRS 11.205(4). An improvement is deemed substantially complete on the date a final inspection of the residence is conducted, a notice of completion is issued for the residence, or a certificate of occupancy is issued for the residence, whichever is the latest to occur. See NRS 11.2055(1).

Here, the certificate of occupancy for the Turner residence was issued on December 6, 2004 (JA v.1 00048). The notice of completion was issued on December 14, 2004 (JA v.1 000137). Turner did not serve Del Webb with his Chapter 40 Notice until December 22, 2014 (JA v.1 00060-00063). Using the latest date, as required by NRS 11.2055 for the trigger, Turner's Chapter 40 Notice was served on Del Webb 10 years and 8 days after the substantial completion of

his residence, which is well beyond the statutes of repose for construction defect claims. NRS 11.203 - 11.205.

Next, the Dykema residence. In this case, the certificate of occupancy was issued on November 2, 2004 (JA v.1 00050). The notice of completion was issued on November 30, 2004 (JA v.1 000142). Dykema did not serve Del Webb with his Chapter 40 Notice until December 2, 2014 (JA v.1 00065-00067). Using the latest date, as required by NRS 11.2055 for the trigger, Dykema's Chapter 40 Notice was served on Del Webb 10 years and 2 days after the substantial completion of his residence, which is well beyond the statutes of repose for construction defect claims. NRS 11.203 – 11.205. Both claims, then, were properly dismissed as untimely.

# A. Appellants have not raised a genuine issue of material fact that the tenyear statute of repose applies to their claims, and Appellants' claims are untimely under both the six and eight-year statutes of repose.

In its motion to dismiss, Del Webb argued that Turner and Dykema's claims are time-barred under the statutes of repose, because "there is an absence of allegations in the operative complaint to apply the 10-year period of repose, and that therefore the 8-year period applies." JA v.1 00041. Del Webb further argued that Turner and Dykema's claims were precluded by either the eight or ten-year statute of repose because neither "served Del Webb with a Chapter 40 Notice until more than 10 years after the date of substantial completion of their respective

properties." JA v.1 00040; see also NRS 40.668(2) & 40.695(1) (tolling any statutes of repose or limitation once a Chapter 40 Notice is served pursuant to NRS 40.645).

To satisfy its initial burden of production, Del Webb established the tardiness of Turner and Dykema's claims by presenting the district court with the substantial completion dates of the homes, as reflected in the certificates of occupancy issued for each of their residences. *See generally* JA v.1 00037-44 (relying on exhibits B, C, F & G thereto). Del Webb also presented the district court with the Chapter 40 Notices, which established the date when both Turner and Dykema served Del Webb with the notice required to institute a construction defect claim. *Id.* All of these critical dates were presented to the district court in a table format in Del Webb's motion. The data set forth in the table revealed that Turner and Dykema brought their claims outside of the statutorily-permissible period. *See* JA v.1 00042.<sup>4</sup>

Turner and Dykema opposed Del Webb's motion, asking the district court to apply the ten-year statute of repose – in effect, asserting an exception to the eight-year statute of repose. *See* JA v.1 00112-115; *Acosta v. Glenfed Dev. Corp.*, 128 Cal. App. 4th 1278, 1292-93, 28 Cal. Rptr. 3d 92, 102 (2005) ("*Acosta*"). By

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See, e.g., Acosta v. Glenfed Dev. Corp., 128 Cal. App. 4th 1278, 1292-93, 28 Cal. Rptr. 3d 92, 102 (2005) (finding a defendant to have satisfied its initial burden of production in an analogous situation).

making that argument, Turner and Dykema now carried the burden to show that a genuine issue of material fact existed that the construction defects they were alleging against Del Webb were known, or should have been known, to Del Webb. *Elley v. Stephens*, 104 Nev. 413, 418-19, 760 P.2d 768, 772 (1988) ("*Elley*"); *Acosta*, 128 Cal. App. 4th at 1292-93; NRS 11.203(1).

Like the plaintiffs in *Elley*, both Turner and Dykema failed to satisfy their burden. *Elley*, 104 Nev. at 418-19, 760 P.2d at 772. The plaintiffs in *Elley* asserted that NRS 11.202<sup>5</sup> applied to their otherwise untimely claims, and this Court stated that their burden was therefore "to show that a material issue of fact existed about willful misconduct." *See id.* Because the record revealed "no evidence supporting [the Elleys'] allegations that the [defendants] engaged in willful misconduct," this Court found that the Elleys did not fulfill their burden and affirmed the district court's dismissal of their claims as untimely per NRS 11.203. *See id.* 

Here, the record likewise reveals that neither Turner nor Dykema produced any evidence that Del Webb knew or should have known of any one of the various construction defects alleged. *See generally* JA v.1 00106-121 (including

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> NRS 11.202(1) states: "An action may be commenced against the owner, occupier or any person performing or furnishing the design, planning, supervision or observation of construction, or the construction of an improvement to real property at any time after the substantial completion of such an improvement, for the recovery of damages for . . [a]ny deficiency . . . which is the result of his or her willful misconduct or which he or she fraudulently concealed."

corresponding exhibits). In fact, in the course of this action, Turner and Dykema have yet to even allege that Del Webb knew or should have known of a particular defect, let alone present evidence of such knowledge. *See generally* JA v.1 00014-29; JA v.1 00106-118; Opening Br. at 3-18; *see also* JA v.1 00210 (Appellants' counsel contemplating amending the operative complaint to include these allegations at the hearing on Del Webb's motion). Just like in *Elley*, there is no genuine issue of material fact regarding the applicability of the ten-year statute of repose. NRS 11.204. Moreover, as demonstrated by the following table, both Turner and Dykema's claims are untimely under both the six and eight-year statutes of repose:<sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In dismissing Appellants' claims, the district court did not expressly reach the issue of which statute of repose applied. *See* JA v.2 00232-247. But resolution of that question is immaterial as the claims are untimely under all statutes of repose. In any event, this Court may affirm a district court order "if it reached the correct result, albeit for different reasons." *Rosenstein v. Steele*, 103 Nev. 571, 575, 747 P.2d 230, 233 (1987).

Appellant	Address	Date of Substantial Completion <sup>7</sup>	Last Day to Commence Suit under NRS 11.204 (eight-year)	Last Day to Commence Suit under NRS 11.205 (six-year)	Date Chapter 40 Notice Served	Elapsed Time
Turner	2844 Blythswood Sq.	12/14/04	12/14/12	12/14/10	12/22/14	10 years 8 days
Dykema	2818 Creighton Dr.	11/30/04	11/30/12	11/30/10	12/02/14	10 years 2 days

Both Turner's and Dykema's construction defect claims were brought against Del Webb over four years too late under NRS 11.205 and over two years too late under NRS 11.204.

# B. Even if the ten-year statute of repose applied to Appellants' claims, they have not raised a genuine issue of material fact that their claims were brought within the prescribed ten-year period.

The ten-year statute of repose set forth by NRS 11.203 states that: "[N]o action may be commenced against . . . any person performing or furnishing the design, planning, supervision or observation of construction, or the construction of an improvement to real property more than 10 years after the substantial completion of such an improvement." NRS 11.203(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The statutes of repose begin to run from the date of substantial completion of an improvement to real property. NRS 11.203(1); NRS 11.204(1); NRS 11.205(1). In this table, Del Webb has included the date of substantial completion as found by the district court, *see* JA v.2 00243-44, NRS 11.2055.

- 1. [T]he date of substantial completion of an improvement to real property shall be deemed to be the date on which:
- (a) The final building inspection of the improvement is conducted;
  - (b) A notice of completion is **issued** for the improvement; or
  - (c) A certificate of occupancy is issued for the improvement,

whichever occurs later.

2. If none of the events described in subsection 1 occurs, the date of substantial completion of an improvement to real property must be determined by the rules of the common law.

NRS 11.2055 (emphasis added).

Here, the parties do not dispute that the latest event to occur under NRS 11.2055(1)(a) – (c) was the issuance of notices of completion. *See* JA v.1 00191. A notice of completion was issued for the Turner residence on December 14, 2004, and for the Dykema residence on November 30, 2004. *See* JA v.1 00137 &00142; JA v.2 00243-44. The latest possible date on which Turner could have commenced suit under the ten-year statute of repose was December 14, 2014, and for Dykema, November 30, 2014. *See* NRS 11.203(1); JA v.2 00243-44.

Neither Turner nor Dykema met those deadlines as illustrated by the following table:

111

111

111

B//

Appellant	Address	Date of Substantial Completion <sup>8</sup>	Last Day to Commence Suit under NRS 11.203 (ten-year)	Date Chapter 40 Notice Served <sup>9</sup>	Elapsed Time
Turner	2844 Blythswood Sq.	12/14/04	12/14/14	12/22/14	10 years 8 days
Dykema	2818 Creighton Dr.	11/30/04	11/30/14	12/02/14	10 years 2 days

Accordingly, the district court appropriately dismissed Turner and Dykema's claims as time-barred. *See* JA v.2 0243-44.

Turner and Dykema advance only two arguments in support of the timeliness of their claims on appeal. Opening Br. at 6. First, Turner and Dykema contend that their claims were timely because the triggering event for the ten-year statute of repose is not the date the notices of completion for their homes were issued (as stated in the statute), but the date the notices of completion were recorded. *Id.* Second, Turner and Dykema argue that dismissal of their claims was inequitable. *Id.* Del Webb submits that both arguments are substantially without merit.

# 1. The statutes of repose began to run on the dates the notices of completion were issued, not when they were recorded.

In light of the plain, unambiguous language of NRS 11.2055 and the corresponding legislative intent, Turner and Dykema's claim that the substantial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> JA v.1 00137 & 00142.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> JA v.1 0060 & 0065; JA v.2 00243-44.

completion dates for their residences are not the dates on which the notices of completion were *issued* but the dates on which the notices of completion were *recorded*, is meritless.

### a. Statutory Interpretation Rules

Questions of statutory interpretation are reviewed *de novo. Westpark Owners' Ass'n v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court*, 123 Nev. 349, 357-58, 167 P.3d 421, 426-27 (2007). "It is well established that when 'the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous, and its meaning clear and unmistakable, there is no room for construction, and the courts are not permitted to search for its meaning beyond the statute itself." *Nelson v. Heer*, 123 Nev. 217, 223-25, 163 P.3d 420, 425-26 (2007) (internal citations omitted). "If the statute is ambiguous, meaning that it is capable of two or more reasonable interpretations, this [C]ourt ... look[s] to the provision's legislative history and ... the context and the spirit of the law or the causes which induced the [L]egislature to enact it." *Torres v. Nev. Direct Ins. Co.*, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 54, 353 P.3d 1203, 1206-07 (2015) (internal quotations omitted).

"An ambiguous statutory provision should also be interpreted in accordance with what reason and public policy would indicate the [L]egislature intended." Harris Associates v. Clark Cty. Sch. Dist., 119 Nev. 638, 641-42, 81 P.3d 532, 534 (2003) (internal citations omitted). "The Legislature's intent is the primary consideration when interpreting an ambiguous statute," and thus, "[t]his [C]ourt

has a duty to construe statutes as a whole, so that all provisions are considered together and, to the extent practicable, reconciled and harmonized." *Orion Portfolio Servs. 2 LLC v. Cty. of Clark*, 126 Nev. 397, 402-03, 245 P.3d 527, 531 (2010). "[N]o part of a statute should be rendered meaningless and its language 'should not be read to produce absurd or unreasonable results." *Harris Associates*, 119 Nev. at 641-42, 81 P.3d at 534 (internal citations omitted).

#### b. NRS 11.2055 is not ambiguous.

NRS 11.2055 states,

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